
  

 

City and County of Swansea 
 
Notice of Meeting 
 
You are invited to attend a Meeting of the 

 

Armed Forces Community Covenant Signatories Panel 
 

At: 
 

Remotely via Microsoft Teams 
 

On: 
 

Monday, 18 January 2021 

Time: 
 

2.00 pm 

Chair: Councillor Wendy Lewis 
 
Watch Online: http://bit.ly/3mvJd6m 
 
 

Agenda 
Page No. 

1   Apologies for Absence.  
 
2   Disclosures of Personal & Prejudicial Interests.  

 www.swansea.gov.uk/DisclosuresofInterests  
 
3   Minutes. 1 - 5 

 To approve & sign the Minutes of the previous meeting(s) as a correct 
record. 
 

 

4   Armed Forces Covenant Regional Project.  
 
5   Update from MOD.  
 
6   Swansea Bay University Health Board, Armed Forces Forum.  
 
7   Royal Air Force Benevolent Fund. 6 - 26 
 
8   Update from Panel Members.  
 
 

Next Meeting: Monday, 15 March 2021 at 2.00 pm 
 

 
 
Huw Evans 
Head of Democratic Services  
Monday, 11 January 2021 

Contact: Gareth Borsden - 01792 636923 
 
 

http://bit.ly/3mvJd6m
http://www.swansea.gov.uk/DisclosuresofInterests


 

 

Armed Forces Community Covenant Signatories Panel 

Signatory Contact Telephone Email/ Address 

City & County of 
Swansea 

Councillor Wendy Lewis, 
AFCC Champion 

07866271605   Cllr.Wendy.Lewis@swansea.gov.uk 

HM Lord Lieutenant of 
West Glamorgan 

Louise Fleet 
Steve Fry (DL)   

Army Captain Chris Evans MBE 01792 401528 

157 (Welsh) Regt RLC,233 (West Glamorgan) Transport 
Squadron The Royal Logistic Corps (Volunteers) Army 
Reserve Centre, The Grange 
Swansea SA3 5AD Chris.evans582@mod.gov.uk 

RAF 

Air Commodore Adrian 
Williams OBE ADC MA BA 

FCILT RAF  
Sqn Ldr S L Cairns MA RAFR 

 
c/o 614 Sqn, Ty Llewellyn, Morgan Street 
Cardiff, CF10 4FG 

Navy 
CPO Rob Evans 

Lt Cdr Tim Williams 
 

Rob.Evans838@mod.gov.uk 
Timothy.Williams728@mod.gov.uk 
 

SSAFA 
David Singletary 
Stephen Boswell 

01792 653432 
07940 576977 

SSAFA Office, Alamein Road, Landore,SA1 2HP 
West.Glamorgan@ssafa.org.uk 
Stephen.boswell@ssafa.org.uk 

Probation, Wales 
CRC (Community 

Rehabilitation 
Company). 

Rachel Edwards 
 

 
 

07896 259795 /  
01792 645505 / 

479390 
 

Wales Probation Trust West Glamorgan House 
12 Orchard Street Swansea SA1 5AD 
Rachel.edwards@workinglinkssecure.co.uk  
www.workinglinks.co.uk 

Prison Service 
Rob Denman 
John Tossell  

 
 HMP Swansea, 200 Oystermouth Road, Swansea,SA1 3SR 

South Wales Police 
Tony McAlinden 
Alison Fischer 

 
07790944116 

Chief Inspector Operations & Policy Manager  
Offender Management & Substance Misuse 

Swansea Bay 
Regional Equality 
Council (SBREC) 

Taha Idris 
Chief Executive 

 
Swansea Bay Regional Equality Council 
Mansel House, 101 Mansel Street 
Swansea, SA1 5UE  

Welsh Air Ambulance 
Mark Stevens 

Fundraising Manager 
 

Wales Air Ambulance, Ty Elusen,Bay Studios Business 
Park,Fabian Way,Swansea SA1 8QJ  

Ospreys Rugby 
Paul Whapham 

Tom Sloan 
01792 616503 

Liberty Stadium, Landore, Swansea SA1 2FA 
paul.whapham@ospreysrugby.com 
tom.sloane@ospreysrugby.com 

Change Step Kev Bogdan 
0728 3414 725 

 
 

46 Talbot Rd, Port Talbot, SA13 1HU. 
kevinbogdan@wcada.org  

Job Centre Plus 
Claire Jones 

Employment & Partnership 
Manager 

 
claire.jones1@dwp.gov.uk  
 

Finola Pickwell Hafal  
finola.pickwell@hafal.org 
 

Mid and West Wales 
Fire and Rescue 

Service 

Steve Davies 
Andy Mills  

sp.davies@mawwfire.gov.uk 
a.mills@mawwfire.gov.uk 

Swansea Council for 
Voluntary Service 

(SCVS) 

Alyx Baharie 
Lauren Howlett 

01792 544005 
Voluntary Action Centre,7 Walter Road, 
Swansea SA1 5NF alyx_baharie@scvs.org.uk 
Lauren_Howlett@scvs.org.uk 

Royal British Legion – 
Swansea Branch 

Squadron Leader Phil. C. 
Flower MBE DL RAFVR(T) 

Anna Looker 
John Williams 

07814177193 

City of Swansea Branch Royal British Legion 
pflower@britishlegion.org.uk 
jwilliams1@britishlegion.org.uk 
alooker@britishlegion.org.uk 

University of Wales 
Trinity St David 

Medwin Hughes 
 

Tania Davies 

01792 481216 
 

medwin.hughes@sm.uwtsd.ac.uk 
tania.davies@uwtsd.ac.uk 

Gower College 
Swansea 

Mark Jones 
Principal   

Gower College Swansea, Tycoch Road, Swansea SA2 9EB  

Swansea University 
Peter Neville 

 
01792 295391 

English Language Training Services, Margam Building, 
Swansea University, Swansea  
SA2 8PP p.l.neville@swansea.ac.uk 

Remploy Swansea 
Eleonora Evans 
Stephanie Pass 

 
Remploy Employment Services, Alexandra House,1 
Alexandra Road, Swansea, SA1 5ED.  

mailto:Cllr.Wendy.Lewis@swansea.gov.uk
mailto:Chris.evans582@mod.gov.uk
mailto:Rob.Evans838@mod.gov.uk
mailto:Timothy.Williams728@mod.gov.uk
mailto:West.Glamorgan@ssafa.org.uk
mailto:Stephen.boswell@ssafa.org.uk
mailto:Rachel.edwards@workinglinkssecure.co.uk
http://www.workinglinks.co.uk/
mailto:paul.whapham@ospreysrugby.com
mailto:tom.sloane@ospreysrugby.com
mailto:kevinbogdan@wcada.org
mailto:CLAIRE.JONES1@DWP.GOV.UK
mailto:finola.pickwell@hafal.org
mailto:sp.davies@mawwfire.gov.uk
mailto:a.mills@mawwfire.gov.uk
mailto:alyx_baharie@scvs.org.uk
mailto:Lauren_Howlett@scvs.org.uk
mailto:pflower@britishlegion.org.uk
mailto:jwilliams1@britishlegion.org.uk
mailto:alooker@britishlegion.org.uk
tel:01792%20481216
mailto:medwin.hughes@sm.uwtsd.ac.uk
tel:01792%20295154
mailto:p.l.neville@swansea.ac.uk


  

Citizens Advice 
Swansea Neath Port 

Talbot 
Pat Dunmore 01792 739914 

City Gates, Wind Street, Swansea SA1 1EE 
pat.dunmore@citizensadvicesnpt.org.uk 
 

Age Cymru West 
Glamorgan 

Chief Executive Officer 01792 648866 

Unit 10 Cwmdu Industrial Estate Carmarthen Road, Swansea 
SA5 8JF 
enquiries@agecymruwestglamorgan.org.uk 
 

Veterans NHS Wales Victoria Williams  Victoria.Williams4@wales.nhs.uk  

Veterans Club 
Sandy Shaw 

Kathryn Morgans 

07581 293292 sandy@veterans-club.co.uk 
secretary@veterans-club.co.uk 
 

Armed Forces Bikers Tony Hayward 
 ma.hayward2@btopenworld.com  

 

British Training Board  Adrian Rabey  Adrian@britishtrainingboard.org.uk  

Aartic Training 
 

Antony Rabey  Antony@aarticts.co.uk 

Merchant Navy 
Association 

Louise Snelgrove 
Capt Roy Griffiths 

  

Royal British Legion Peter Evans  PEvans@britishlegion.org.uk 

Cruse Sue Richards-Hoskin  
morgannwg@cruse.org.uk 
 

Help for Heroes Shelley Elgin 07916 640892 Shelley.elgin@helpforheroes.org.uk  

Blesma  
 

Thomas Hall 
Jason Suller 

07780 165085 
bsowest@blesma.org 
 

EFT Consult Adrian Matthews   adrianmatthews@eftconsult.co.uk 

Care after Combat 
 

Rob Nicholls   

 
The Poppy Factory 

 
Natalie McCombe  020 8940 3305 NatalieM@poppyfactory.org 

SToMP (Supporting 
the Transition of 

Military Personnel) 

Andy Jones 
Paul Jones 

 
07817 941612 

andy.jones1@justice.gov.uk 
wales.stomp@justice.gov.uk 
Paul.Jones7@justice.gov.uk 

Age Cymru 
Heather Ferguson 

Danielle Welsh 
 

heather.ferguson@agecymru.org.uk 
Danielle.Welsh@agecymru.org.uk 

Action on Hearing 
Loss 

Charis Moon  Charis.moon@hearingloss.org.uk 

Woody’s Lodge   
David@woodyslodge.org, steve@woodyslodge.org  
sian@woodyslodge.org  

Swansea Armed 
Forces Breakfast Club 

Bernice Morgan  
rt.bk.morgan@ntlworld.com 
 

Natural Resources 
Wales 

Debbie Hamer  Debbie.Hamer@cyfoethnaturiolcymru.gov.uk  

Swansea Bay 
University Health 

Board 

Chris Morrell  
Jackie Davies  
Fiona Smith 

 
christine.morrell@wales.nhs.uk 
jackie.davies2@wales.nhs.uk 
Fiona.smith6@wales.nhs.uk 

Third Sector & Trust 
Fund Commissioning 

Co-ordinator 

Spencer Martin 
 

01792 636734 Spencer.martin@swansea.gov.uk  

Regional Armed 
Forces Covenant 

Liaison Officer 
Grace Halfpenny 01639 763418 

g.c.halfpenny@npt.gov.uk 
 

Strategic Manager -
Tourism, Marketing & 

Events 
Fran Jenkins 01792 635201 

 
Frances.Jenkins@swansea.gov.uk 
 

Special Events 
 

David Price Deer 01792 635455 special.events@swansea.gov.uk  

Ageing Well 
Participation Officer 

 
Dominic Nutt 01792 522946 

Dominic.nutt@swansea.gov.uk 
 

Common Access 
Point for Adults  - 
Social Care 

Rachel Davies 
 

01792 636617 rachel.davies4@swansea.gov.uk  

 

 

mailto:pat.dunmore@citizensadvicesnpt.org.uk
mailto:enquiries@agecymruwestglamorgan.org.uk
mailto:Victoria.Williams4@wales.nhs.uk
mailto:sandy@veterans-club.co.uk
mailto:secretary@veterans-club.co.uk
mailto:ma.hayward2@btopenworld.com
mailto:Adrian@britishtrainingboard.org.uk
mailto:Antony@aarticts.co.uk
mailto:PEvans@britishlegion.org.uk
mailto:morgannwg@cruse.org.uk
mailto:Shelley.elgin@helpforheroes.org.uk
mailto:bsowest@blesma.org
mailto:chrisjenkins@eftconsult.co.uk
mailto:andy.jones1@justice.gov.uk
mailto:wales.stomp@justice.gov.uk
mailto:heather.ferguson@agecymru.org.uk
mailto:David@woodyslodge.org
mailto:steve@woodyslodge.org
mailto:sian@woodyslodge.org
mailto:rt.bk.morgan@ntlworld.com
mailto:Debbie.Hamer@cyfoethnaturiolcymru.gov.uk
mailto:christine.morrell@wales.nhs.uk
mailto:jackie.davies2@wales.nhs.uk
mailto:Fiona.smith6@wales.nhs.uk
mailto:Spencer.martin@swansea.gov.uk
mailto:g.c.halfpenny@npt.gov.uk
mailto:Frances.Jenkins@swansea.gov.uk
mailto:special.events@swansea.gov.uk
mailto:Dominic.nutt@swansea.gov.uk
mailto:rachel.davies4@swansea.gov.uk


 
 

 

City and County of Swansea 
 

Minutes of the Armed Forces Community Covenant 
Signatories Panel 

 
Remotely via Microsoft Teams  

Monday, 16 November 2020 at 2.00 pm 

 
Present: Councillor Wendy Lewis (Chair) Presided 

 
Representing Organisations  
Stephen Boswell SSAFA 
Seamus Brennan Royal British Legion 
Jackie Davies Swansea Bay University Health Board 
Rob Denman Prison Service 
Pat Dunmore Citizens Advice Bureau 
Capt Chris Evans  Welsh Transport Regiment 
Sqd Ldr Phil Flower Royal British Legion Swansea Branch 
Steve Fry Deputy Lieutenant 
Grace Halfpenny Regional Armed Forces Covenant Liaison Officer 
Thomas Hall Blesma 
Claire Jones Jobcentre Plus 
Finola Pickwell Hafal 
Councillor Alyson Pugh 
Rob Salmon 

Swansea Council 
Re-act 

Tom Sloan Ospreys Rugby 
John Williams Royal British Legion 
 
Officer(s)  
Gareth Borsden Democratic Services Officer 
David Price Deer Special Events Manager 
Spencer Martin Third Sector & Trust Fund Commissioning Co-ordinator 
 
Apologies for Absence 
Alyx Baharie, Louise Fleet, Debbie Hamer, Natalie McCombe, David Trotman, Nick 
Vanderpump, Victoria Williams and Sian Woodland 
 

 
84 Disclosures of Personal & Prejudicial Interests. 

 
None. 
 

85 Minutes. 
 
Resolved that the Minutes of the Panel held on 14 September 2020 be approved as 
a correct record. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of the Armed Forces Community Covenant Signatories Panel (16.11.2020) 
Cont’d 

 

 
86 Armed Forces Covenant Regional Project. 

 
Grace Halfpenny reported that due to the Covid 19 pandemic this year’s 
Remembrance period activities and events had been very different to the usual ones, 
with lots of ‘virtual’ events being held online. 
 
She indicated that all the actual wreath laying and similar events had all taken place 
in accordance with the relevant Welsh Government guidelines. 
 
She reported that the member of staff recently appointed to the Welsh Government 
schools project role had unfortunately left her position, but a new member of staff will 
start in the new year. 
 
She also stated that she is due to meeting with Welsh Government shortly to discuss 
the issue of trying to improve the communication between them and veterans groups 
and organisations. 
 
Finola Pickwell announced that there is two weeks left now to apply for grants for 
projects under the positive pathways and force for change schemes with is aimed at 
issues around veteran’s mental health and well-being. 
 
She indicated she was happy to liaise and support any groups with applications for 
funding. 
 
She indicated that an announcement on the round 3 of funding schemes is expected 
imminently. 
 

87 Update from MOD. 
 
Capt Chris Evans supported the comments made regarding the Remembrance 
period and indicated that over 120 people had attended the ‘virtual’ parade. 
 
He outlined that the reserves have now returned to face to face training in line with 
the Welsh government protocols and guidelines. He indicated that 157 Regt currently 
has 4 officers deployed at the moment supporting health boards around Wales. 
 
He stated that only online recruitment continues for the moment but he indicated that 
the planning for events in 2021 continues as normal. 
 

88 Swansea Bay University Health Board, Armed Forces Forum. 
 
Jackie Davies outlined that the health board had held its armed forces forum last 
week, the virtual meeting was the first once since the initial Covid lockdown. 
 
She indicated that a lot of the work related to veterans, service children, ward 
champions etc has had to be placed on hold due to Covid and its massive impact on 
the health service. 
 

Page 2



Minutes of the Armed Forces Community Covenant Signatories Panel (16.11.2020) 
Cont’d 

 

Grace Halfpenny outlined that she had been present at the meeting which had 
received an excellent presentation from Veterans NHS Wales, which she would 
circulate to panel members after the meeting. 
 
They detailed that consultations between doctors and patients do continue but are 
mostly online/virtual, this can prove problematic for some veterans who don’t have 
the necessary IT equipment. 
 
Veterans NHS are exploring ways of supporting veterans with this issue and trying to 
assist with both the provision and access to relevant IT devices. There is a possibility 
of some grant funding for this through the NHS charitable funds which will be 
explored. 
 
Councillor Alyson Pugh outlined that there was a potential to link with the council’s 
lifelong learning and library services to provide IT training and equipment for 
veterans. 
 

89 Re-Act Organisation. 
 
Rob Salmon who has been a volunteer with the organisation since 2015 outlined the 
background history of the organisation which had formally been known as Team 
Rubicon. 
 
He outlined that the organisation responds to humanitarian emergencies and 
disasters around the world and sends its people to assist those communities in need. 
He outlined that the teams take all the own equipment and supplies when deployed. 
 
He outlined that veterans are a welcome addition to their volunteer group due to their 
attitude, skills and enthusiasm for problem solving and dealing with difficult 
situations. 
 
He outlined the current level of volunteers within the organisation and the type and 
areas of assistance that has been provided both in the UK and abroad. 
 
More details of the organisation and how to volunteer can be found at 
https://www.re-act.org.uk/ 
 

90 Update from Panel Members. 
 
Swansea Council 
 
The Chair outlined and detailed the Remembrance day activities and events she had 
been involved in. She thanked all the organisations involved for their help and 
support over the period and outlined that despite the difficulties relating to Covid and 
the Welsh Government firebreak, she felt that the events had been both poignant 
and respectful.  
 
She indicated that her personal highlight had been the ceremony to place the 
wreaths on the Paddington bound GWR service. 
 

Page 3

https://www.re-act.org.uk/


Minutes of the Armed Forces Community Covenant Signatories Panel (16.11.2020) 
Cont’d 

 

Councillor Alyson Pugh outlined that in relation to Swansea Working and 
‘employability’ issues that had been discussed at the last meeting, a lot of behind the 
scenes work continues with officers and partner organisations. The main change to 
date has been to amend the wording on the form from ‘are you a veteran’ to ‘have 
you served’. She outlined the rationale behind the change. Members of the panel 
welcomed and supported the change. 
 
She also outlined that the link with the Prison was back up and running with online 
meetings. 
 
Swansea CVS 
 
Grace Halfpenny on behalf of Alex Baharie outlined that 3rd sector partners funding is 
available for capital items to adapt services during the Covid pandemic. The funding 
can cover retrospective costs back to April 2020. SCVS are applying a broad health 
and well-being approach to applications. 

 

Details and form can be found at https://www.scvs.org.uk/News/icf-covid-grant-
sept20 
 
Royal British Legion 
 
Phil Flower outlined and reported that this year’s Remembrance day events and 
services had been completely different to previous years and had been a difficult 
time for the RBL and other organisations. 
 
The issues around Covid, the firebreak, social distancing, self isolation, shielding etc 
had massively impacted on events and in particular on the usual poppy appeals and 
collections in and around the Swansea area. 
 
He indicated that despite the hugely reduced numbers, the annual service at St 
Marys had been both respectful and poignant. 
 
He indicated that the air cadets are currently on a phased return to training and will 
hopefully resume face to face activities in the new year and will comply with all Covid 
guidelines. 
 
Lord Lieutenancy 
 
Steve Fry (Deputy Lieutenant) outlined that the Lord Lieutenant had recently asked 
him to represent her at the panel meetings and lead on issues relating to the armed 
forces covenant. He was pleased to attend and outlined he was about to move roles 
from the Royal Navy reserve to the Air Force reserve. 
 
Swansea Prison 
 
Rob Denman (Deputy Governor) outlined he was also attending his first meeting of 
the panel. He referred to the exceptionally difficult period that the prison and both its 
inmates and staff have had to go through because of the Covid pandemic. 
 

Page 4

https://www.scvs.org.uk/News/icf-covid-grant-sept20
https://www.scvs.org.uk/News/icf-covid-grant-sept20


Minutes of the Armed Forces Community Covenant Signatories Panel (16.11.2020) 
Cont’d 

 

He outlined that the pandemic has seriously restricted both visitors to the prisoners 
and activities inside for the men. 
 
He outlined that support for veterans within the prison system remains an issue. 
 
He thanked those partner and stakeholder organisations for their ongoing help and 
assistance during the pandemic and outlined that the intention was, subject to Covid 
guidelines and advice to get the relevant people and organisations back into the 
prison to support the inmates as soon as is practically possible. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 2.40 pm 
 
 

Chair 
 

Page 5



 A guide  
 to our  
 services 

supporting serving and 
former members of the 
raf and their families

Page 6

Agenda Item 7



vision 

no member of the rAF Family  
will ever face adversity alone. 

our purpose 

to understand and support each  
and every member of the rAF Family, 
whenever they need us.

vAlues 
Our values are at the heart of all that we do. We are:

Beneficiary Focused – we place beneficiaries at the heart  
of all that we do and are dedicated to acting in their best 
interests, understanding their needs and using our expertise 
to provide appropriate solutions.

Compassionate – we show empathy, giving a helping hand  
to those in need and distress.

 Inclusive – promoting fairness, diversity and respect for 
others, we are non-judgemental and non-discriminatory  
in our approach to both beneficiaries and staff, making  
ourselves accessible to all who need our help.

 Responsive – forward-leaning and innovative, we remain 
relevant by anticipating changes in the wider environment 
which affect those who need our help.

Trustworthy – we have integrity and are honest, striving  
to do the right thing, and challenging decisions and actions 
which are not consistent with our values while remaining 
accountable for our actions.

 contents 

 1. Introduction 7

 2. Who we help 9

 3.  Services for serving personnel, veterans  
and their families 13

 4. Support we cannot provide 27

 5. Additional schemes for serving RAF personnel 28

	 6.	 Application	process	for	financial	assistance	 34

 7. Grants for organisations and RAF stations 36

3

P
age 7



In 1919, just one year after the Royal Air 
Force was founded, there was an urgent 
need to support those who had served in 
the First World War. Lord Trenchard set up 
the RAF Benevolent Fund with donations 
from the public to help ex-servicemen and 
their families get their lives back on track.

Our vision then as it is now is that no 
member of the RAF Family will ever face 
adversity alone. We are the RAF’s oldest 
friend - loyal, generous and always there. 

The Royal Air Force Benevolent Fund 
supports current and former members of 
the RAF, their partners and families, 
providing practical, emotional and financial 
support, whenever they need us. We are 
committed to getting them through the 
toughest times, whatever life may send 
their way. We’ll consider any request for 
assistance, however big or small, providing 
a tailor-made approach to each individual 
situation. 

We are unique in providing a range of 
support for serving RAF and their 
dependants, from support with childcare 
and relationship difficulties to help with 
retraining, injury, disability, illness and 
bereavement.

For former serving RAF members and their 
partners, we offer financial grants to aid day-to-
day living, cover one-off unexpected costs for 
practical items like a new fridge or replace a 
broken boiler, right through to renovating homes 
to help people live independently. We can provide 
respite care, bereavement support or arrange 
telephone groups to help those isolated or lonely.

We work closely with our partners and 
organisations to provide direct and targeted 
assistance to the RAF Family, while caseworking 
organisations, including SSAFA and RAFA, act as 
our ‘eyes and ears’ on the ground, having direct 
contact with those who need our assistance. 

The RAF Family is spread all over the country and 
you and your organisation are vital in helping us 
to spread the word about our work. 

As part of our Centenary Campaign, we have 
ambitious plans to reach out to more members of 
the RAF Family and encourage those who have not 
yet sought our help to come forward, in particular 
older veterans and surviving spouses, who may 
not be aware of the support available to them. 

Thank you for your support in helping us to reach 
those who have gone off our radar.

Air Commodore Paul J Hughesdon 
Director Welfare and Policy 
May 2019

4 5

P
age 8



 1  introduction 
Who We Are 
The Royal Air Force Benevolent 
Fund is the leading welfare charity 
supporting current and former 
members of the RAF, their partners 
and families, providing practical, 
emotional and financial support, 
whenever they need us. 

hoW We help 
We provide a range of support for 
serving RAF and their dependants, 
from support with childcare and 
relationship difficulties to help with 
retraining, injury, disability, illness 
and bereavement.

For former serving RAF and their 
partners, we offer financial grants 
to aid day-to-day living, cover 
one-off unexpected costs like 
replacing a broken boiler, right 
through to adapting homes to help 
them live independently. We can 
provide respite care, bereavement 
support or arrange telephone 
friendship groups to help those 
isolated or lonely including 
surviving partners. 

There is no fixed limit on the 
amount of financial assistance we 
offer but each case is considered 
individually and can depend on 
financial circumstances. We  
carry out holistic assessments, 
considering the underlying needs 
and whether there are any additional 
ways of helping over and above 
what has been requested.

76

P
age 9



 2 Who We help 
1.  All serving Regular members of 

the Royal Air Force and 
members of the Royal Air Force 
Reserve Forces.

2.  All former members of the 
Royal Air Force who completed 
one day’s attested service 
(including Royal Auxiliary Air 
Force, Reserve personnel and 
members of The University Air 
Squadron).

3.  The immediate family members 
of those who served (spouse, 
civil partner, widow/widower, 
dependant children):

 •  Dependant children are eligible 
up to the age of 18 or to the 
end of secondary education if 
later. Children who, because of 
illness or disability, remain or 
become dependent on their 
parents after the age of 18 
retain eligibility until they 
regain their independence. For 
the purposes of this guide, a 
dependant child can be either 
the natural child of, or any 
child for whom the one who 
has served, has a legal 
responsibility.

 •  Separated/divorced spouses/
civil partners are eligible only if 
their committed partnership 
was during their partner’s RAF 
Service. Eligibility ceases on 
remarriage/partnership.

 •  Separating spouses/partners 
whose committed relationship 
was not during their partner’s 
RAF Service will be eligible for 
assistance for six years after 
the separation. However, all 
applications are considered on 
a case-by-case basis.

 •  Partners may be treated as a 
spouse/widow where there is 
satisfactory evidence of a 
committed relationship (eg 
duration of relationship, 
children, joint ownership of 
property, or joint financial 
arrangements, etc).

 •  Live-in carers (relatives or 
friends) who have demonstrated 
a longstanding commitment to 
the needs of the beneficiary, as 
evidenced by entitlement to 
Carer’s Allowance, are eligible 
for assistance for up to six 
months after caring 
arrangements have ceased, to 
provide one-off support while 

8 9

P
age 10



they make the transition from 
being a full-time carer to a 
different lifestyle.

4.  Reserve (Training) officers and 
civilian instructors if they are 
killed or injured while on duty 
(squadron events or camps, etc).

5.  Members of Air Cadet 
Organisations (ACO), including 
members of the Combined 
Cadet Force RAF component, 
are eligible if they are killed or 
injured while on duty. This also 
extends to uniform and 
potentially civilian staff. 
Applications are considered on 
a case-by-case basis.

6.  Former Members of the 
Commonwealth and Dominion 
Air Forces and their family 
dependants are eligible 
provided they served in the 
Second World War and are 
resident in the UK when 
applying for help.

7.  Certain foreign nationals, for 
example, Czechs and Poles, 
who were allocated RAF Service 
numbers during the Second 
World War, together with their 
dependants, wherever they 
reside.

8.  Former members of the Royal 

Observer Corps and Air 
Transport Auxiliary and their 
dependants.

AdditionAl notes  
regArding eligibility 
RAF Service: The term ‘RAF Service’ 
is taken to include service, or 
former service, in the RAF, WRAF, 
WAAF, RAuxAF, RAFVR and 
PMRAFNS. This includes all forms 
of National Service.

Family dependants: The parents 
of a deceased RAF member may 
also be granted eligibility if it can 
be shown that they were financially 
dependent on the one who served. 
Assistance would normally be 
targeted for a specific need(s) and 
would not normally be ongoing. 
Assistance would normally be 
considered for up to six months 
after the conclusion of the inquest. 
Elderly non-RAF parents, who 
become dependent and need to be 
cared for within the home of a 
serving or ex-serving member of 
the RAF, may be considered for 
exceptional assistance if a clear 
case of financial distress exists.

10 11

P
age 11



 3 services For serving  
 personnel, veterAns And  
 their FAmilies 
In summary, we provide 
assistance with:

1.  Financial assistance with 
day-to-day living costs

2.   Unemployment, retraining and 
resettlement 

3. Help with housing 

4.  Disability adaptations and aids 
around the home 

5. Mobility equipment 

6. Care costs 

7. Support for carers

8. Wellbeing holiday breaks

9. Help with funeral costs

10. Benefits advice

11. Housing and Care Advocacy

12. Emotional health and wellbeing

1 FinAnciAl AssistAnce  
With dAy-to-dAy living  
costs 
Unexpected life events such as loss 
of employment or serious illness 
within the family can result in a drop 
in income or increased expenses. 

Help can be provided with:

Unexpected and unaffordable 
one-off costs: This could be to 
assist with replacing essential white 
goods, such as fridges or washing 
machines, or to help with repairing 
or replacing furniture or furnishings. 
We can provide help with short-
term needs where there is no other 
support available, including 
unexpected children’s needs, 
or costs associated with illness 
or bereavement.

Priority bills and debts: In certain 
cases we can consider providing 
assistance with priority debts and 
the costs associated with filing for 
bankruptcy or a Debt Relief Order. 
Written advice must be provided by 
an independent specialist debt 
adviser confirming that this is a 
suitable course of action.

Regular Financial Assistance 
(RFA): This is available for those on 
a low income who are of pensionable 
age (or are approaching pensionable 
age or diagnosed with a severe 
long-term health problem and will 
not be able to work again). The 
amount will depend on financial 
need. RFA awards are capped for 

12 13

P
age 12



new cases at a maximum of £30 per 
week and must be reapplied for 
annually.

Garden Maintenance Allowance: 
A grant of up to £10 per week (£520 
per year) can be awarded where 
there is a clear need (eg disability, 
infirmity or for carers) to assist with 
the cost of garden maintenance to 
aid independent living. This will be 
awarded as a lump sum payment 
annually to enable the employment 
of a gardener throughout the year.

Domestic Assistance Allowance:  
A grant of up to £20 per week 
(£1,040 per year) can be awarded 
where there is a clear need (eg 
disability, infirmity or for carers) to 
provide assistance with domestic 
support such as housework or 
minor DIY tasks to aid independent 
living. This will be awarded as a 
lump sum to be able to employ a 
cleaner or handyman throughout 
the year.

Temporary Financial Assistance:  
It can be a difficult and stressful time 
for those of working age who 
suddenly find themselves out of a 
paid job and unemployed. We will 
consider short-term help to prevent 
them dropping too far into financial 
or emotional despair. However, it is 
important to ensure that all statutory 
support is being accessed. 

Social Inclusion Grant: We can 
provide a grant of up to £500 per 
year to combat social isolation and 
loneliness, allowing beneficiaries to 
join local hobby/ historical/ 
vocational night school courses or 
University of the Third Age. Modest 
assistance with travel costs is also 
permissible within the maximum 
award figure of £500.

Advice and Advocacy: Our 
Benefits Advisors can identify and 
provide tailored advice on welfare 
benefit entitlements and/ or 
challenging decisions. We also 
provide representation and 
advocacy to those appealing a 
disability benefit (see page 24).

2 unemployment,  
retrAining And  
resettlement 
Transitioning from the RAF back 
into civilian life can bring a number 
of challenges. Sometimes it may 
not be possible to plan ahead for 
the end Service, for example, in the 
case of medical discharge or other 
unexpected life events. Where 
there are unexpected additional 
costs associated with resettlement, 
such as housing or retraining, we 
can provide support:

 • The Career Transition Partnership 
(ctp.org.uk) can offer training 

and skills development for those 
leaving the armed forces for up 
to two years post-discharge. For 
those who left the RAF more 
than two years ago, we work in 
partnership with the Regular 
Forces Employment Charity 
(RFEA) who can provide help in 
the form of advice, guidance 
with compiling a CV, searching 
for employment and developing 
interview techniques (rfea.org.uk).

 • The costs of retraining for those 
who are unemployed or in low-
paid employment. We can assist 
with skills development training 
where it can be demonstrated 

that this is likely to lead to 
sustainable employment. 
Applications should include a 
clear identifiable career plan with 
training being undertaken to 
secure employment (where there 
are identifiable job opportunities 
which require and/or value this 
particular training). The course 
should be recognised, vocational 
and qualify the individual for a 
job, trade or profession. We will 
also consider assistance with 
travel and course-related books 
and equipment that cannot be 
provided by the course provider 
or from statutory sources. 

14 15

P
age 13



In addition, funding may be 
awarded to assist with the 
essentials when starting and 
remaining in a job, including 
clothing, tools or equipment that 
are not the responsibility of the 
employer.

 • For anyone who finds themselves 
unemployed and suffering 
a significant drop in income, 
we can consider providing 
temporary financial assistance 
with bills and day-to-day living 
expenses for a limited period. 

 • In exceptional circumstances, 
assistance may also be 

considered towards the cost 
of starting a business if there 
are no other suitable schemes 
available and only in cases where 
the applicant, for reasons of ill-
health, disability or bereavement, 
is unable to secure regular 
employment. Any award, which 
may take the form of a loan or 
a grant, will normally be subject 
to the submission of a properly 
evaluated and realistic business 
plan. Moreover, although training 
costs and living expenses may 
be considered, such help will 
normally be biased towards the 
cost of capital equipment.

3 help With housing 
Rent and deposits: For those who 
are on a low income and at risk of 
homelessness, we consider 
applications for assistance with the 
cost of a rent deposit and the first 
month’s rent. Our advocacy service 
may also be able to assist with 
challenging the termination of an 
existing tenancy or a decision by 
the Local Authority of intentional 
homelessness. It must be evident 
that the property is financially 
sustainable going forward (taking 
into account entitlement to Local 
Housing Allowance).

Removal costs: We may be able to 
assist, for example, if the individual 
is on a low income, is elderly or 
living with a disability, and is 
moving home to allow them to be 
closer to family members who can 
provide them with support.

Furniture/white goods/fittings: 
We can help with replacing or 
acquiring essential items of 
furniture, white goods, carpets 
or redecoration.

Essential property repairs: For 
homeowners who cannot afford to 
carry out essential repairs to the 
property they are living in (eg with 
repairing a roof that leaks or a 
broken boiler), we can give grants 
towards the payment of essential 

minor repairs and provide low-
interest loans secured on the 
property for more major work. 

4 disAbility AdAptAtions  
And Aids Around the  
home 
Local Authorities have a statutory 
responsibility to help people with  
a disability to live independently at 
home which can involve awarding a 
Disabled Facilities Grant, or a Home 
Improvement Grant if in Scotland. 
We can provide assistance with 
adaptations where this statutory 
support is not available, or if  
there is a long delay in getting  
the equipment or adaptations 
needed from the Local Authority. 
This can include: the installation  
of wheelchair ramps, stairlifts, 
level-access showers, widening of 
door frames or improving ground-
floor facilities. These adaptations 
must be recommended by an 
Occupational Therapist who has 
assessed the situation. If a visit has 
not already taken place, then we 
will arrange this. 

Social Services or the NHS has a 
duty to provide equipment which is 
essential to meet care needs. If 
equipment around the home 
makes a big difference to a 
person’s comfort and 

16 17

P
age 14



independence and is required on 
medical grounds and not available 
elsewhere, we’ll consider providing 
assistance. We can provide assistance 
with items including profiling beds, 
riser recliner chairs, bath lifts and 
hoists, as well as telecare technology 
such as basic telecare alarms. 
These care equipment items  
must be recommended by an 
Occupational Therapist who has 
assessed the situation and if a visit 
has not already taken place, we will 
arrange this. Items will normally be 
supplied by our preferred supplier 
where this is possible.

5 mobility equipment 
We consider applications for 
equipment to help with mobility 
and improving independence, such 
as mobility scooters, electric 
wheelchairs and manual 
wheelchairs. It is important to 
ensure that statutory help is not 
available first. For example, if the 
applicant is in receipt of the higher 
rate of Disability Living Allowance 
(Mobility), the enhanced rate of the 
mobility component of Personal 
Independence Payment, the War 
Pensioners’ Mobility Supplement or 
the Armed Forces Independence 
Payment, they may be able to 
obtain an electrically powered 
vehicle (EPV) through the Motability 

scheme. Alternatively, if the 
applicant requires an electric 
wheelchair they may be able to 
receive assistance through the NHS 
Wheelchair Service. These options 
should be explored in the first 
instance.

If no statutory help is available and 
we’re able to assist, an Occupational 
Therapist’s assessment will be 
arranged in order to advise on the 
most suitable equipment. Once the 
Occupational Therapist has 
provided a report, and if we are 
able to provide a scooter or 
wheelchair, this will be provided via 
our preferred supplier and loaned 
to the applicant. We will cover the 
cost of the insurance and servicing 
for the EPV and organise Road Tax 
registration if required.

6 cAre costs 
 • If you need home care, the Local 
Authority should carry out an 
assessment of care needs and 
determine whether they can offer 
help with the cost of that care. In 
cases where the Local Authority 
is already helping with the cost 
of care, we may be able to offer 
additional assistance if there is 
a shortfall. Once we receive an 
application for help with funding 
increased home care hours over 

and above those provided by the 
Local Authority, we will require 
a copy of your Care Plan and 
if necessary we will follow up 
with an Occupational Therapist 
assessment.

 • For RAF veterans living within 15 
miles of Princess Marina House 
located in Rustington, West 
Sussex, the Respite at Home 
service offers a one-to-one care 
service for periods of up to five 
hours per fortnight to help reduce 
social isolation and offer respite 
from caring for informal carers.

 • If you require long-term 
residential care, the Local 
Authority carries out an 
assessment of care needs, 
followed by a means-tested 
financial assessment to assess 
whether you should pay part or 
all of the care fees and how much 
the Local Authority will contribute 
towards the fees. Social Services 
should provide details of homes 
at their ‘usual funding rate’. They 
should not ask for a top-up if a 
home is not available at their 
usual rate. However, if a private 
care home is chosen in order to 

18 19

P
age 15



forum to receive peer support 
(see page 25)

 • relationship support, accessed 
through our partnership with 
Relate

 • a listening and counselling 
service, providing access to 
emotional support, including 
counselling sessions that can be 
delivered at home for those who 
struggle to get out (see page 24)

 • a Carer’s Information Pack, 
providing information on the 
support available

 • subsidised respite breaks at 
Princess Marina House, one of 
our preferred Care Hotels, or RAF 
Benevolent Fund funded breaks 
at Royal Air Force Association 
Wings Hotels

 • advocacy and benefits advice 
(see page 24)

 • Respite at Home (West Sussex 
only – see page 19)

 • access to our full range of financial 
assistance (usual eligibility criteria 
for financial assistance applies). 
For those caring for a member 
of the RAF Family, ie not directly 
eligible themselves, the care 
they are providing should be 
equivalent to what is required to 
apply for Carer’s Allowance (ie in 
excess of 35 hours per week). It is 

worth noting that grants can be 
considered for things particularly 
relevant to carers, such as to 
assist with regular home help, 
subscriptions to telecare services 
or essential items or aids for 
the home.

8 Wellbeing holidAy  
breAks 
We facilitate low cost wellbeing 
breaks for those experiencing 
difficult pressures or challenges and 
could benefit from a break away 
from their day-to-day life. This might 
include those who have suffered 
bereavement, illness or have caring 
responsibilities, or where one 
member of the family has spent 
long periods of time deployed 
abroad.

Princess Marina House is our short 
break centre for ex-RAF personnel 
and their adult dependants or their 
widow/widowers situated in 
spacious grounds on the seafront 
in Rustington, West Sussex and is 
available throughout the year. We 
offer short and long breaks (in 
some circumstances breaks for 
more than a month can be 
accommodated) for our guests in 
modern, well-appointed 
accommodation. Comfort is a 
priority, so full board is provided, 

be close to family and friends, 
the care fees charged by the 
home may be outside the usual 
funding rate available. If a more 
expensive home is chosen, Social 
Services will expect families to 
commit to pay the difference 
between the fees and the usual 
funding rate. This is when we 
may be able to assist financially. 

We can also consider providing 
assistance with funding attendance 
at day centres where there would 
be a clear benefit. This can also be 
considered in order to provide an 

element of respite care for the 
carer, as well as funding sitting 
services or temporary live-in carers 
to allow the carer a respite break.

7 support For cArers 
A package of support is available to 
those in the RAF Family caring for a 
loved one (or to those providing 
care to someone who is in the RAF 
Family). This package includes:

 • access to telephone friendship 
groups aimed at reducing social 
isolation and creating a safe 

20 21

P
age 16



with provision for guests, with 
disabilities and personal care, if  
it is required. The facilities include  
a cosy rest and relaxation room 
with large screen television, a hair 
salon, a dining room, which serves 
delicious home-cooked meals 
prepared by in-house chefs, and  
a conservatory bar with stunning 
panoramic sea views. Care can also 
be provided for those guests living 
with mild cognitive impairment in 
the Beachside wing. The package 
includes full board, a comprehensive 
activities and entertainment 
programme including excursions. 

Applications should be made 
directly to Princess Marina House; 
further information and a booking 
form is available at rafbf.org/PMH

Guests can request help with 
paying the costs of the fees.

In addition there is a daily lunch club 
at Princess Marina House offering a 
three-course meal and afternoon 
activities for a nominal charge.

RAF Disabled Holiday Trust: The 
Fund administers the RAF Disabled 
Holiday Trust which provides 
accessible holidays for severely 
disabled serving and former 

members of the RAF and their 
dependants. Holidays are available 
at a number of locations which are 
listed on the RAF Disabled Holiday 
Trust website. The holidays are 
free, but beneficiaries will need to 
finance and arrange their own 
travel. Applications can be made 
online or by downloading the 
application form from  
rafbf.org/dht

Other welfare breaks: As part of 
the new National Wellbeing Breaks 
service, we are offering individuals 
and couples with care needs the 
opportunity to apply for a subsidised 
Care Break at one of our preferred 
Care Hotels which provide a full 
range of holiday activities alongside 
a package of personal and/or 
nursing care. 

rafbf.org/carebreaks

For those without care needs we 
are making available opportunities, 
at subsidised prices, for individuals 
and couples to come along on 
group holidays with other members 
of the RAF Family. These breaks will 
give the opportunity of an all-
inclusive holiday in the company of 
like-minded individuals, a chance to 
make new friends and re-charge 
the batteries.

rafbf.org/groupbreaks

9 help With FunerAl costs 
Assistance with funeral expenses  
is dependent on the eligibility of  
the deceased. Thus, the applicants 
may well be family members (or, 
exceptionally, close friends) who 
would, otherwise, be ineligible for 
our help. However, if a beneficiary 
is responsible for arranging the 
funeral of a close relative who was 
not eligible for our assistance, we 
can still consider providing help.

The applicant should first access 
statutory support where they are 
eligible for this, by applying to the 
Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP) for a funeral payment. 
Applications must be supported  
by documentation confirming  
the costs involved as well as the 
decision from the DWP. Where a 
funeral payment is not available or 
does not cover the full cost, our 
help will be confined to the costs of 
a basic funeral. Where there is no 
next of kin, the Local Authority has 
a legal obligation to arrange a 
simple cremation or burial, and  
we cannot consider assisting with 
Local Authority costs in this regard. 
We do not normally assist with 
headstones, but in extreme cases 
of financial and emotional distress, 
such as the death of a child, limited 
assistance toward the cost of a 
simple headstone or memorial may 
be considered.

22 23

P
age 17



10 beneFits Advice 
We provide benefits advice to 
ensure beneficiaries access all the 
statutory benefits to which they 
are entitled from the Department 
for Work and Pensions (DWP), 
HMRC and their Local Authority. 
Advice is available within the 
following areas:

 • entitlement to statutory benefits

 • income maximisation – advice on 
ways to reduce your outgoings 
or make more of your income. 
Our useful booklet Maximising 
your Income and Reducing your 
Outgoings is available at  
rafbf.org/advice

 • representation (pending 
availability) at disability 
benefit appeals

11 housing And cAre 
AdvocAcy
Advocacy is available in the 
following areas:

 • accessing housing from the 
Local Authority

 • re-possession of housing and 
intentional homelessness

 • problems with landlords 
and disrepair

 • obtaining support for children 
with special educational needs

 • entitlement to home care

 • getting a care assessment

 • Continuing Heath Care (CHC) 
funding

 • care home top-up fees

 • other care related issues

 • Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs)

 • access to medical treatment.

Enquiries can be made either by 
emailing advice@rafbf.org.uk, 
by calling 0800 169 2942 or by 
completing an online enquiry  
form at rafbf.org/advice

12 emotionAl heAlth  
And Wellbeing 
We have a number of non  
means-tested support services  
that are delivered in partnership 
with specialist organisations.  
These can be accessed directly  
by beneficiaries:

 • Relationship support through 
our partnership with Relate. We 
can fund a course of relationship 
counselling sessions, which can 
be accessed as an individual, 
couple or family and is available 
to all eligible members of the RAF 

Family. Beneficiaries can self-
refer confidentially via the Relate 
helpline (0845 077 5556) and will 
be referred to an appropriate local 
office; if additional sessions are 
required then these can be funded 
where there is financial hardship 
which can be applied for via the 
local Relate office. Additionally, we 
can provide access to subsidised 
mediation sessions, for those 
going through a divorce or 
separation through Relate.

 • Listening and Counselling 
Service: helps with a range of 
issues such as bereavement, 
anxiety, depression, low self-
esteem, stress and loneliness. 

For serving personnel, speak  
to your Medical Officer who  
will refer you to the service.  
For all other members of the  
RAF Family, you can self-refer 
between Monday to Friday 
during office hours by  
contacting 0300 222 5703  
or support@rafbf.org.uk 

 • Telephone Friendship Groups: 
Our Friendship Groups provide 
the opportunity for RAF veterans 
and their partners/widow(er)  
of retirement age to connect 
with other beneficiaries to 
reduce isolation and facilitate 
friendships. The groups meet 
using a teleconference facility  

at a prearranged time once 
per week and contain up to six 
people per group. Each group is 
facilitated by a trained volunteer 
who makes it easy for individuals 
to participate and oversees the 
smooth running of the group. 
Please contact 0800 169 2942 
if you are interested in 
joining one of our Telephone 
Friendship Groups.

 • Working across Lincolnshire, 
Cambridgeshire, Norfolk 
and Suffolk, our Community 
Engagement Workers support 
RAF veterans who face isolation 
and loneliness. The scheme 
aims to assist older RAF veterans 
identify interesting opportunities 
in their communities and help 
individuals overcome the barriers 
preventing them being actively 
involved in local activities.

24 25

P
age 18



 4 support We cAnnot  
 provide 
We will consider any requests for 
help and will endeavour to provide a 
degree of flexibility when required. 
That said, there are a number of 
areas that are outside our policy:

Reimbursement: Awards generally 
cannot be considered for the 
reimbursement of funds already 
expended. However, exceptions 
can be considered where there was 
an emergency (eg essential boiler 
repair) and the beneficiary had no 
option but to borrow money or use 
a credit card in order to meet the 
need at the time.

Business and credit card debts: 
Generally, we do not assist with 
non-priority debts such as credit 
cards and unsecured loans. 
Beneficiaries are advised to  
seek professional and independent 
debt advice from Citizens Advice or 
Step Change. We will consider 
exceptional circumstances for 
example if credit was used to fund 
essential items or services where 
there was no other option. In these 
cases we would require a report 
from a professional money adviser 
that outlines the problem, explores 
options and recommendations, 
clarifying that no other solutions 
are available.

Financial advice: We do not 
employ qualified financial advisers 
and we are unable to offer advice 
on financial matters. Beneficiaries 
are advised to find an independent 
financial adviser via the Money 
Advice Service 
moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en

Legal costs: Beneficiaries are 
advised to consider seeking advice 
from a local branch of Citizens 
Advice (citizensadvice.org.uk) 
which should be able to supply the 
names and contact details of 
solicitors practising under the legal 
aid scheme.

Private medical costs: We do not 
assist with private medical costs 
where treatment is available under 
the NHS. However, assistance may 
be considered where there are 
exceptional circumstances and 
NHS funding is not available. 
Applicants can be considered for 
treatment which is recommended 
by the National Institute for Health 
and Care Excellence (NICE).

26 27

P
age 19



 5 AdditionAl schemes For  
 serving rAF personnel  
We recognise that there are 
additional pressures and demands 
for Serving RAF personnel and have 
developed services to support 
them and their families.

relAtionship support 
As well as access to relationship 
counselling offered through our 
partnership with Relate (see 
page 24), serving couples also  
have access to Building Stronger 
Families, a free online relationship 
course which teaches couples ways 
to deal with common relationship 
issues. The course, which can be 
completed anonymously and 
separately, in the privacy of their 
own home, is designed to provide 
support before serious problems 
begin and takes into consideration 
the unique issues that serving 
families are faced with. 

The course can be accessed at 
rafbf.relate.org.uk

minor FinAnciAl  
AssistAnce 
Where there are short-term or 
one-off circumstances requiring 
immediate financial support, we 
can provide serving personnel with 
individual grants of up to £500. 
This might relate to situations 
involving bereavement, hospital 
admission resulting in additional 
travel/accommodation, or childcare 
costs where there are welfare 
needs. This scheme provides a 
quick way of ensuring support 
reaches the individual who needs it 
with grants normally authorised by 
the unit Chief Clerk and paid by the 
station from the Commanding 
Officer’s Fund/Community Bank 
which is then reimbursed by us on 
submission of the Minor Financial 
Assistance application.

sepArAting couples 
Where a couple separate and one 
member is serving in the RAF, we 
can consider an application to 
provide assistance with essential 
costs that arise. This might include 
a rent deposit where the estranged 
partner needs to move out of 

28 29

P
age 20



Help with housing: We can 
consider applications to help with 
housing needs for those whose 
partner dies while serving in the 
RAF leaving them with the care of 
dependant children, or in the event 
of a medical discharge linked to 
severe disability and prevention of 
long-term employment. There are 
two ways in which we can provide 
financial assistance for housing, 
both should be discussed with the 
Fund staff as early as possible to 
see how we can help:

a.  If the individual is able to raise 
51% of the price of a property 
out of savings, compensation or 
insurance payout, we can lend 

the rest of what is needed in 
order to make the purchase. This 
is done by securing the money 
lent as a low-interest mortgage 
against the property. When the 
house is sold, for whatever 
reason, the mortgage must be 
paid off first and the individual 
receives whatever remains of the 
sale amount once all other 
secured borrowings have 
been paid.

b.  The second option is that the 
Fund purchases a property 
through its Housing Trust. 
Together with the beneficiary, 
the most suitable property in the 
right location that provides the 

Service accommodation, or with 
essential goods and furniture. 

Additionally, separating couples  
will be able to access subsidised 
mediation sessions to support with 
the separation process and help 
settle any disputes. 

These can be accessed through the 
local Relate office or via the 
helpline 0845 077 5556.

mentAl heAlth  
And Wellbeing 
We offer free membership to 
Headspace which provides guided 
mindfulness exercise accessed via 
an app or online. Mindfulness can 
improve mental wellbeing, reducing 
stress anxiety and depression. 
These memberships are available 
to serving RAF personnel (including 
Reservists) only.

Access should be requested by 
emailing your service number 
(from your MOD account) to 
headspace@rafbf.org.uk. See 
page 25 for information about our 
Listening and Counselling service.

injury And deAth  
in service 
We can support anyone who is 
faced with death or a disabling 
injury while serving in the RAF, 
which does not necessarily have to 
be attributable to service. Below 
are the main ways in which 
assistance can be provided:

Immediate Needs Grants: We can 
provide financial support, up to a 
maximum of £5,000, to meet the 
unforeseen, immediate needs of a 
Service person and their family if  
s/he is killed or injured on or in 
preparation for operational 
deployment. Exceptionally this 
scheme can also apply to cases  
of extreme illness. 

Transition Grants: We can 
support a bespoke resettlement 
process for RAF wounded, injured 
or sick personnel who are 
medically discharged. A grant up to 
£12,000 could be awarded but with 
an expectation that those sources 
of funding already available for the 
resettlement process from the 
MoD are drawn upon. Applications 
should be submitted by the RAF 
station or the RAF Personal 
Recovery Unit (PRU) on the 
relevant application form.

30 31

P
age 21



most support is identified. The 
property is purchased, adapted 
as necessary to the level of 
disability, and rented out at an 
affordable rate. Regardless of 
how a property is purchased, 
where an individual with a 
serious disability is being 
discharged from the RAF, we can 
arrange for an Occupational 
Therapist to confirm that a 
property is suitable and may 
provide grant funding for 
adaptations.

Help with education costs: In the 
case of death or a severe disability 
which prevents long-term 
employment, we can consider 
providing financial assistance 
towards the cost of educating 
children in the following scenarios 
where there is financial hardship:

a.  The children are already in the 
private school system and to 
remove them would disrupt their 
education, or

b.  There is a specific welfare need 
within the family, such as the 
need for the surviving partner to 
dedicate time to retraining, or a 
clear pastoral need which means 
that it would be preferable for 
the child(ren) to attend private 
school.

Additionally, the children of all 
those who have died in Service 
who go on to study at university 
are eligible for an annual Fund 
Scholarship of £3,000 which is not 
means-tested, for up to four years 
of undergraduate study. 
Applications can be made directly 
by the student to the Fund.

Wellbeing holidAy breAks  
We have two Seaside Cottages, 
Seacot and Shencot, and two 
apartments, Harlequin House and 
Jesters Court, adjacent to Princess 
Marina House. The cottages and 
apartments provide a home away 
from home for families and are 
equipped with modern facilities 
and toys for children. Priority is 
given to serving RAF personnel. 
Applications to stay should be 
made directly to Princess Marina 
House; further information is 
available at  
rafbf.org/seaside-cottages

In addition, you can apply for 
subsidised holiday breaks for 
serving RAF personnel in many 
popular locations across the UK 
rafbf.org/welfare-breaks

Serving RAF guests can apply for 
help with paying the costs of the 
fees through their RAF unit via a 
Minor Financial Assistance request 
(see page 34).

32 33

P
age 22



 6 ApplicAtion process For  
 FinAnciAl AssistAnce 
rAF veterAns And  
their dependAnts 
The initial enquiry may be made 
through another charitable 
organisation or direct to us, either 
in writing, by telephone, online or 
by email. In all cases the applicant 
must agree to be visited by a 
trained RAFA/SSAFA caseworker 
who will confirm the beneficiary’s 
eligibility, establish the need and 
submit an application to us.  

The information provided by the 
beneficiary is given in confidence 
and is subject to applicable data 
protection law. The caseworker, 
therefore, has a clear duty to 
maintain that confidence and 
should not discuss any aspect of 
the case with anyone other than 
those with whom it is necessary to 
consult in order to proceed with 
the application. In this respect, the 
beneficiary is expected to sign the 
form giving explicit consent for 
other agencies to be approached. 

Our Welfare Team will assess each 
application, ensuring that it meets 
our eligibility criteria, demonstrates 
a financial need and the assistance 

request lies within the scope of our 
policy. Additionally, we will ensure 
that all statutory support has been 
accessed, including arranging a 
benefits check where appropriate. 

serving rAF personnel  
And their dependAnts 
Serving RAF personnel should 
approach their station’s 
administrative staff to make an 
application for assistance. 

Applications for assistance over 
£500 should be made on the RAF 
Benevolent Fund Application for 
Financial Assistance for Serving 
Personnel form. We would 
normally expect a substantive case 
to be accompanied by a SSAFA 
social worker’s report. Applications 
for one-off assistance of £500 or 
less can be made via the Minor 
Financial Assistance Scheme, on 
the RAF Benevolent Fund Minor 
Financial Assistance Request Form 
at rafbf.org/financialform

Applications for Immediate Needs 
Grants or Transition Grants for 
those who are wounded, injured 

or sick should be made on the 
Application for an RAF Benevolent 
Fund Operational Immediate 
Needs Grant or Transition Grant 
form. Details of the different 
schemes available to serving RAF 
personnel and their dependants 
are outlined in chapter 5. 

Enquiries about non-financial 
assistance do not require a formal 
application and can be made either 
by emailing advice@rafbf.org.uk, 
by calling 0800 169 2942 or by 
completing an online enquiry form 
at rafbf.org/advice

34 35

P
age 23



 7  grAnts For orgAnisAtions   
 And rAF stAtions 
We offer financial support to other 
organisations, charities and RAF 
stations for projects and activities 
that deliver a demonstrable positive 
change to members of the 
RAF Family.

externAl grAnts 
We support the costs of delivering 
activities aimed at ex-service 
personnel and their families. The 
amount granted will be dependent 
and proportionate to the numbers 
benefiting from the service. You 
can apply for grants up to a 
maximum of £25,000 and up to 
£50,000 for capital grants for 
projects that require expenditure 
on buildings and equipment. 
Download an application at  
rafbf.org/stationgrants

Send completed forms and enquiries 
to externalgrants@rafbf.org.uk

stAtion grAnts 
Our station grants programme 
supports the delivery of facilities 
and activities that benefit serving 
personnel and their families in or 

around RAF stations. Grants can be 
used for building refurbishments 
or smaller projects such as the 
provision of a cinema club 
projector. To find out more 
including how to apply visit  
rafbf.org/externalgrants

ben clubs, ben pArenting  
And stAtion FAmily dAys 
Every year we offer funding 
towards social activities for 
children aged five to seven; 
programmes that develop 
parenting skills and grants  
towards the cost of running  
a Station Families Day. The  
Fund contacts stations directly  
to invite applications.

36 37

P
age 24



38

P
age 25



For more information about the RAF 
Benevolent Fund and its work visit 
www.rafbf.org

Royal Air Force Benevolent Fund,  
67 Portland Place, London, W1B 1AR
0800 160 2942

RAF Benevolent Fund is a registered charity in England and Wales (1081009) and Scotland (SCO38109)

Cobseo
The Confederation

 of Service Charities

Page 26


	Agenda
	3 Minutes.
	7 Royal Air Force Benevolent Fund.



